RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-08-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT 4

Case No. 2017AP2206

State ex rel. DRAZEN MARKOVIC,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

JON E. LITSCHER,

Respondent-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A WRIT OF CERTIORARI ENTERED BY THE HONORABLE FRANK D. REMINGTON, DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

RESPONDENT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

COLIN T. ROTH Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1103985

Attorneys for Respondent-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-6219 (608) 267-2223 (Fax) rothct@doj.state.wi.us

INTRODUCTION

The Wisconsin Department of Corrections (DOC) has broad authority to collect unpaid restitution from prisoners. Under Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b), DOC "may distribute earnings [of an inmate or resident] for . . . obligations . . . which have been reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." And under Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1), DOC may use money given to it for a prisoner's account for "the benefit of the prisoner."

Both provisions allowed DOC to collect unpaid restitution that petitioner-respondent Drazen Markovic, a prisoner, owed on a 1995 theft conviction. The circuit court erroneously reversed DOC's decision, holding that DOC lost its collection authority when Markovic—who remained incarcerated on a separate conviction—completed the prison term on his 1995 theft conviction. Neither Wis. Stat. §§ 303.01(8)(b) nor 301.32(1) retracts DOC's right to collect restitution when a prisoner completes a prison term but has not fulfilled his restitution obligation. DOC's decision should be affirmed, accordingly.

Even if DOC's decision is not affirmed, the circuit court also erred by ordering DOC to pay back the money DOC collected for the unpaid restitution. When an agency's decision is challenged through certiorari, a circuit court may only affirm, reverse, or in limited circumstances not present here, remand. It is well established that a certiorari court cannot order an agency to pay money. That does not mean Markovic would have no way to recover improperly collected restitution—he could petition the state claims board—but a monetary remedy is unavailable in this certiorari action. The circuit court's decision on this point should be reversed. 1. Do Wis. Stat. §§ 303.01(8)(b) and 301.32(1) allow DOC to collect restitution owed on a conviction for which a prisoner's sentence has ended, when the prisoner remains incarcerated on a different conviction?

DOC answered yes, and this Court should affirm.

2. If DOC cannot collect unpaid restitution in these circumstances, can a court considering a certiorari petition order DOC to repay to a prisoner the unpaid restitution DOC had collected?

DOC's decision did not address this issue, but this Court should answer no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because no published decisions have addressed DOC's authority to collect restitution under these circumstances, publication would clarify this issue of state-wide concern. DOC anticipates that the parties' briefs will render oral argument unnecessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Statutory scheme.

The statutes discussed here (and others) implement the Wisconsin Constitution's demand that Wisconsin "shall ensure that crime victims have . . . the . . . privilege[] and protection[] . . . [of] restitution." Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m.

Persons convicted of a crime in Wisconsin must pay restitution to their victims. "When imposing sentence or ordering probation for any crime . . . the court . . . shall order the defendant to make full or partial restitution under this section to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r). "The court may require that restitution be paid immediately, within a specified period or in specified installments. If the defendant is placed on probation or sentenced to imprisonment, the end of a specified period shall not be later than the end of any period of probation, extended supervision or parole." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(10)(a).

DOC has a significant role in administering restitution. When a defendant is placed under DOC supervision, the "restitution order shall require the defendant to deliver the amount of money or property due as restitution to [DOC] for transfer to the victim." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(a). DOC must "establish a separate account for each person in its custody or under its supervision ordered to make restitution for the collection and disbursement of funds." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(b).¹

While a person is incarcerated, DOC "may distribute earnings [of the inmate or resident] for . . . obligations . . . which have been reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b). Likewise, under Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1), DOC may use money transferred to DOC for a prisoner's account for "the benefit of the prisoner."

II. Statement of facts.

Markovic was convicted of theft in 1995. (R. 10:4.) He was sentenced to seven years of incarceration and ordered to pay 4,214.20 in restitution. (R. 10:4.) This sentence was

¹ In 2015, the Legislature added a requirement that a defendant must "authorize [DOC] to collect, from the defendant's wages and from other moneys held in the defendant's prisoner's account, an amount or a percentage [DOC] determines is reasonable for payment to victims." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c). This provision was not in effect when DOC collected the restitution at issue.

discharged² in 2002 when the seven-year prison term expired, but Markovic remained incarcerated on another conviction. (R. 10:32.) In November 2016, DOC began colelcting restitution Markovic still owed on the 1995 theft conviction from his prison account. (R. 10:32-34.)

Markovic filed an inmate complaint on December 19, 2016, regarding these collections. (R. 10:47-49.) He argued that DOC had no authority to collect the restitution because his 1995 theft conviction had been discharged. (R. 10:47-49.) The inmate complaint examiner recommended that Markovic's complaint be dismissed; the warden agreed and dismissed the complaint. (R. 10:51, 53, Resp.-Appellant's App. 110, 112.) Markovic appealed, and DOC Secretary Litscher affirmed the decision on January 29, 2017. (R. 10:55-56, 59-60, Resp.-Appellant's App. 114, 115.)

On February 23, 2017, Markovic filed a timely petition for a writ of certiorari challenging DOC's decision. (R. 1.) The circuit court reversed DOC's decision in a September 15, 2017, decision and order. (R. 18, Resp.-Appellant's App. 101– 109.) The court concluded that DOC had no authority to collect restitution on Markovic's discharged 1995 theft conviction, and it ordered DOC to pay back the restitution it had collected on that conviction. (R. 18:9, Resp.-Appellant's App. 109.)

DOC filed a timely notice of appeal on November 1, 2017, and an amended notice two days later. (R. 20; 22.) This appeal followed.

² DOC policy defines a "discharged case" as "[t]he completion of one conviction (confinement and extended supervision)."
(R. 10:24.) No statutory definition exists.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's scope of review in certiorari proceedings is the same as that of the circuit court. See State ex rel. Palleon v. Musolf, 117 Wis. 2d 469, 345 N.W.2d 73 (Ct. App. 1984), aff'd, 120 Wis. 2d 545, 356 N.W.2d 487 (1984). This Court reviews the agency decision, not the decision of the circuit court. See Kozich v. Emp. Tr. Funds Bd., 203 Wis. 2d 363, 368-69, 553 N.W.2d 830 (Ct. App. 1996).

On certiorari review, the reviewing court is limited to determining: (1) whether the agency kept within its jurisdiction; (2) whether it acted according to law; (3) whether its action was arbitrary, oppressive or unreasonable, and represented its will and not its judgment; and (4) whether the evidence was sufficient to demonstrate that the agency's decision was reasonable. Van Ermen v. DHSS, 84 Wis. 2d 57, 63, 267 N.W.2d 17 (1978).

Claims alleging the agency acted outside of its jurisdiction or contrary to law are questions of law, which receive de novo review. State ex rel. Riesch v. Schwarz, 2005 WI 11, ¶ 14, 278 Wis. 2d 24, 692 N.W.2d 219. But the court defers to the agency decision in determining whether the decision was reasonable and supported by sufficient evidence. Van Ermen, 84 Wis. 2d at 64.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wisconsin Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) allowed DOC to collect the unpaid restitution that Markovic owed on his 1995 theft conviction. The circuit court mistakenly distinguished *State* v. Baker, which holds that restitution is an "obligation[]... reduced to judgment" that DOC can collect under Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b). 2001 WI App 100, ¶ 17, 243 Wis. 2d 77, 626 N.W.2d 862. Baker's holding applies here, even though Markovic—who remained incarcerated—had completed the prison term derived from his 1995 conviction. The circuit court also erred in relying on Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r), which allows crime victims to pursue restitution from offenders after a sentence ends. That provision does not create an exclusive method to collect restitution, as the circuit court wrongly assumed. Instead, multiple parties, including DOC, have overlapping authority to collect restitution, a sensible scheme that helps crime victims receive the restitution to which they are entitled.

Wisconsin Stat. § 301.32(1) also allowed DOC to collect the restitution at issue. It benefits prisoners like Markovic for DOC to allocate their funds to paying down outstanding judgments, including unpaid restitution. The circuit court wrongly concluded that DOC's collection did not benefit Markovic, since his victim purportedly could no longer bring a civil action to collect the unpaid restitution. But the crime victim still had time to act, because Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r) automatically grants crime victims an enforceable judgment for unpaid restitution when an offender's sentence ends. And other entities could still collect unpaid restitution, even if the crime victim could not. It was thus to Markovic's benefit for DOC to collect the restitution at issue.

Separately, even if DOC lacked authority to collect the unpaid restitution here, the circuit court could not order DOC to repay it to Markovic. Courts considering certiorari petitions can only affirm or reverse the agency's decision (or remand in circumstances absent here). Damages are not available in certiorari proceedings, which is effectively what the circuit court ordered. A certiorari decision regarding whether DOC acted properly can only affect DOC's future collection actions, not require it to pay money. Markovic's monetary remedy resides with the state claims board, not this certiorari action.

ARGUMENT

I. DOC could collect restitution that Markovic still owed on his discharged 1995 theft conviction.

Two statutes independently provide DOC with authority to collect restitution on discharged cases: Wis. Stat. §§ 303.01(8)(b) and 301.32(1). Since this presents an issue of statutory interpretation, the analysis "begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning . . ." Id. Moreover, "statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. ¶ 46.

Also important here is Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m, which provides that Wisconsin "shall ensure that crime victims have . . . the . . . privilege[] and protection[] . . . [of] restitution." These statutes must be interpreted in a way that maximizes crime victims' ability to recover restitution, a policy choice enshrined in the Wisconsin Constitution.

A. Wisconsin Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) allowed DOC to collect restitution on Markovic's discharged conviction.

Wisconsin Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) provides that DOC "may distribute earnings [of an inmate or resident] for . . . obligations . . . which have been reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." In *State v. Baker*, the court held that this provision allows DOC to deduct restitution from prison wages, since "a judgment of conviction including an order to pay restitution is an 'other obligation[]... reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." 243 Wis. 2d 77, ¶ 17 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b)).

This provision allows DOC to collect unpaid restitution derived from any of a prisoner's convictions, even if an accompanying prison term has ended. It is undisputed that Markovic's 1995 theft charge resulted in a judgment of conviction that included an order to pay restitution. (R. 10:4.) Under Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) and *Baker*, 243 Wis. 2d 77 ¶ 17, DOC could collect on that "obligation[]...which [had] been reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." Markovic's restitution obligation did not somehow vanish just because he finished the prison term on his 1995 theft conviction. Because Markovic remained incarcerated on another conviction, he remained subject to DOC's authority to collect any unpaid restitution.

The circuit erred by holding that DOC lost authority to collect the unpaid restitution when Markovic completed his prison term on the 1995 conviction. First, this misreads *Baker. Baker* held simply that "a judgment of conviction including an order to pay restitution is an 'other obligation[]... reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." *Baker*, 243 Wis. 2d 77, ¶ 17 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b). Nothing in that holding turned on whether the prisoner has completed the prison term for that particular judgment of conviction. Therefore, *Baker* allowed DOC to collect the restitution at issue here, which ends the analysis.

The circuit court reasoned that *Baker* does not apply here because, in its view, "when an inmate completes the sentence, any unpaid restitution has to be reduced to a judgment in order for a victim to collect." (R. 18:6, Resp.-Appellant's App. 106.) To support that proposition, the circuit court cited Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r), which provides a civil mechanism for crime victims to recover unpaid restitution:

After the termination of probation, extended supervision, or parole, or if the defendant is not placed on probation, extended supervision, or parole, restitution ordered under this section is enforceable in the same manner as a judgment in a civil action by the victim named in the order to receive restitution or enforced under ch. 785.

The circuit court went wrong by assuming that this statute, which creates a collections procedure specific to crime victims, limits DOC's independent collection authority under Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b).

Nothing in Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r) indicates that it has anything to do with DOC's own authority to collect "obligations . . . which have been reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b). It just provides a collection remedy for crime victims, who otherwise would have no express right to civilly enforce restitution ordered in a judgment of conviction. And nothing in Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r) indicates that it provides the *exclusive* means for collecting unpaid restitution when a sentence ends. Instead, Wis. Stat. §§ 973.20(1r) and 303.01(8)(b) both provide ways to collect unpaid restitution, at least when the offender remains in prison.

Other statutes show that multiple entities may pursue unpaid restitution concurrently with the crime victim. For example, Wis. Stat. § 973.20(10) allows DOC to certify a restitution obligation to the Department of Revenue (DOR) when an offender's probation, parole, or extended supervision ends. DOR may then intercept the offender's tax refund or use other tools available to collect unpaid taxes, such as wage attachment orders and bank levies. See Wis. Stat. § 71.93(8)(b). Likewise, Wis. Stat § 973.20(1r) allows the contempt tools in Wis. Stat. ch. 785 to be used to enforce an unsatisfied restitution order. The prosecuting district attorney can use Chapter 785 to obtain a contempt order when restitution remains unpaid after the offender's payment deadline. Since DOR and district attorneys can collect unpaid restitution in these ways, post-discharge collection necessarily is not limited to crime victims.

Therefore, once Markovic's 1995 conviction was discharged in 2002, at least four options existed to collect unpaid restitution: (1) DOC could directly collect it under Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b)—the option it chose here; (2) DOC could certify the obligation to DOR under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(10)(b); (3) the district attorney could pursue contempt proceedings under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r) and Wis. Stat. ch. 785; or (4) a victim could collect in a civil action under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r). These options were not mutually exclusive, a conclusion reinforced bv the constitutional demand that Wisconsin "shall ensure that crime victims have . . . the . . . privilege[] and protection[]... [of] restitution." Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m. The more methods that exist to collect unpaid restitution, the more likely it is that a victim will obtain it.

Lastly, the circuit court wrongly reasoned that DOC could not collect Markovic's unpaid restitution because it was a condition that expired when his 1995 sentence ended in 2002. (R. 18:6, Resp.-Appellant's App. 106.) But the other collection methods discussed above persist after a sentence ends. DOC can still certify unpaid restitution to DOR, even after the sentence and any accompanying conditions expire. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(10)(b). Similarly, district attorneys may also pursue contempt proceedings after a sentence ends. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r).

There is no good reason why DOC cannot also collect unpaid restitution under Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) when the accompanying prison term ends, at least from offenders who remain in prison. Again, *Baker* holds that a restitution order in a judgment of conviction is an "obligation[]... reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." 243 Wis. 2d 77, ¶ 17. This distinguishes restitution from typical behavioral conditions, such as submitting to searches and notifying DOC agents of changes in employment or residence. While it makes sense for those kinds of conditions to expire when a sentence ends, restitution is different. Restitution is a money judgment—a continuing financial obligation—that the offender must satisfy even after DOC supervision ends.

Both Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) and the constitutional policy of ensuring that crime victims obtain restitution support DOC's decision to collect unpaid restitution owed on discharged cases. DOC's decision to collect such restitution from Markovic should be affirmed.

B. Wisconsin Stat. § 301.32(1) also allowed DOC to collect restitution on Markovic's discharged conviction.

Wisconsin Stat. § 301.32(1) independently authorized DOC to collect restitution from Markovic's prison account. This statute provides that DOC may use money transferred to DOC for a prisoner's account for "the benefit of the prisoner." It benefited Markovic for DOC to pay down the restitution debt he owed on his 1995 theft conviction.³ Common sense shows that it is beneficial to pay one's debts. Moreover, if Markovic does not pay his outstanding restitution, he could be subject to the collection methods discussed above: contempt proceedings, garnishment actions by DOR, or civil actions by the crime victim. DOC's efficient

³ The Wisconsin Legislature codified this interpretation in 2015 WI Act 355, but that amendment was not in effect when DOC withheld the restitution at issue here. See Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1) (A prisoner's "property may be used . . . for . . . victim restitution under s. 973.20(11)(c).").

administrative collection of this debt from Markovic's prison account makes it more likely that he will avoid these other more burdensome collection methods.

The circuit court wrongly distinguished Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1), noting that it does "does not directly address the DOC's authority to collect restitution in a discharged case." (R. 18:6, Resp.-Appellant's App. 106.) But the statutory language—for "the benefit of the prisoner"—is broad and encompasses paying down restitution debt, even for a discharged conviction. Avoiding the adverse consequences of burdensome collection actions by DOR, a district attorney, or the crime victim is for "the benefit of the prisoner," even though Markovic's 1995 conviction was discharged.

The circuit court also mistakenly held that collecting restitution could not be for "the benefit of the prisoner" because Markovic's restitution debt to the crime victim was uncollectable, on the theory that the statute of limitation had expired for the victim to pursue a remedy. (R. 18:6–7, Resp.-Appellant's App. 106–07.) This interpretation would prove too much—it would prevent DOC from collecting restitution on behalf of victims in any case where the inmate was currently unable to pay. In any event, the assumption that the unpaid restitution could not be collected was wrong, in two respects.

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