STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT 4  
Case No. 2017AP2206

---

State ex rel.

DRAZEN MARKOVIC,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

JON E. LITSCHER,

Respondent-Appellant.

---

**RECEIVED**

FEB 05 2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN

---

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A WRIT OF  
CERTIORARI ENTERED BY THE HONORABLE FRANK  
D. REMINGTON, DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

---

PETITIONER-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

---

Drazen Markovic  
Petitioner-Respondent, Pro Se

Stanley Correctional Institution  
100 Corrections Drive  
Stanley, Wisconsin 54763

##

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### **I. AFTER A DEFENDANT HAS COMPLETED HIS SENTENCE AND STILL HAS UNPAID RESTITUTION, THE RESTITUTION ORDER IS CONVERTED TO A CIVIL JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO WIS. STAT. §973.20(1r)**

Despite Markovic completing this sentence in December of 2002 (16 years ago), this case is fundamentally a simple one. The outcome is dictated by answering one question: Is the criminal restitution order entered by the circuit court on December 20, 1995 converted to a civil judgment for any remaining restitution still owed after the completion and discharge of a sentence pursuant to Wis.Stat. §973.20(1r)? If the answer is yes, then the DOC has no legal statutory authority under Wis.Stats. §§303.01(6)(b) and 301.32(1) to withhold and be a debt collector for any of Markovic's money for unpaid restitution on a completed and discharged sentence, even if Markovic is still incarcerated on another JOC. Any remaining restitution converted to a civil judgment can only be enforced by the victim, not the DOC. An analysis of the restitution statute, the case law, and the record commands that this Court affirms the certiorari court's decision and order.

##### **A. Statutory Analysis of Wis. Stat. §973.20(1r) shows that unpaid restitution after the completion of a sentence must be converted to a civil judgment**

Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. "If the meaning of the statute is plain, we



ordinarily stop the inquiry." *Olstad v. Microsoft Corp.*, 2005 WI 121, P18, 700 N.W. 2d 139, 144 (citing *Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58 P45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 663, 681 N.W. 2d 110, 124). The Court assigns the words in the statute their common, ordinary, and accepted meaning. *Id.* The Court also considers the context and structure of the statute. *Id.*, P46. The Court interprets statutes to avoid absurd or unreasonable results and to give effect to every word in the text. *Id.* Consequently, a statute is not ambiguous simply because it does not say what a party wants it to say. Moreover, "a statute is not ambiguous simply because the parties disagree as to its meaning." *Preston v. Meriter Hosp., Inc.*, 2005 WI 122, P22, 700 N.W. 2d 158, 166 (2005).

1. The language of the restitution statute is clear on its face - Markovic's criminal restitution order is converted to a civil judgment after the completion and discharge of a sentence.

"Under the plain meaning rule, courts do not resort to legislative history to uncover ambiguities in a statute clear on its face." *Seider v. O'Connell*, 2000 WI 76, P49, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 235, 612 N.W. 2d 659, 671 (2000). See also, *Kelly Co. v. Marquardt*, 172 Wis. 2d 234, 247, 493 N.W. 2d 68, 74 (1992). Here, the language is clear: Markovic's criminal restitution order is converted to a civil judgment for any remaining unpaid restitution after the completion of a sentence.

Restitution is governed by Wis.Stat. §973.20. *State v. Evans*, 2000 WI App. 178. The language of Wis.Stat. §973.20 is controlling this case.

Wis.Stat. §973.20(1r) states:

[a]fter the termination of probation, extended supervision, or parole, or if the defendant is not placed on probation, extended supervision, or parole, restitution ordered under this section is enforceable in the same manner as a judgment in a civil action by the victim named in the order to receive restitution or enforced under ch. 785.

This language contemplates a civil judgment under §806.10. Section §806.10 is the civil judgment provision of the Wisconsin rules of civil procedure. Wis.Stat. §973.20(1r)

suggests a judgment derived from a restitution order retains its nature as restitution, but that the victim may enforce the judgment by using civil enforcement mechanisms. (e.g. attachment or garnishment) or by seeking remedial sanctions for contempt. So the language of the restitution statute is clear on its face - any restitution for a crime of which Markovic has completed should be transformed into a civil judgment the victim may enforce, not the DOC. How can the DOC collect unpaid restitution after the completion of a criminal judgment and yet maintain criminal jurisdiction over such a judgment and defendant? The two concepts are mutually exclusive. To do so would arguably violate Markovic's due process rights. See also, Wis.Stat. §973.09(3)(b) which shows that unpaid restitution must be a civil judgment under Wis. Stat. §806.10. The fact that the legislature did not expressly state that unpaid restitution "becomes" or "is converted" to a civil judgment is of no merit. Indeed, it would have been odd for the legislature to use such language. Not only would such language be imprecise, it would be ambiguous. People would not know what the legal effect of terms like "conversion" or "becomes" would mean as they relate to civil judgments. That is not the vernacular of the law. Wisely, the legislature used language extant in the law: "civil judgment" and "in the same manner as a judgment in a civil action." The legislature also refers readers of the statute to well known rules that govern civil judgments §806.10. The statute references no other "basket" into which the judgment may be put. Thus, the legislature provides readers of the statute clear language to follow. Accordingly, the statute §973.20(1r) tells you all you need to know - unpaid restitution after the completion of a sentence are civil judgments that the victim may enforce, not the DOC.

Similarly, the legislature did not use words to make a judgment derived from §973.20(1r) non-dischargeable or non-negotiable. Legislature omission of such qualifying language shows that the legislature meant to have judgments

derived from unpaid restitution by a civil judgment under §806.10. "It is presumed that the legislature is cognizant of what language to include or omit when it enacts laws." *Town of Sheboygen v. City of Sheboygen*, 2001 WI. App. 279, P9, 248 Wis. 2d 904, 910, 637 N.W. 2d 770 774. The "...legislature's intent is expressed in the statutory language." *Peterson v. Volkswagen of America, Inc.*, 2005 WI 61, P19, 281 Wis. 2d 39, 51 697 N.W. 2d 61, 66 (citing *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58, P43).

2. The context and structure of the statute are clear - Markovic's criminal restitution judgment is converted to a civil judgment after the completion of a sentence.

Section 806.10, entitled, "Judgment and lien docket," states:

At the time of entry of a judgment directing in whole or in part the payment of money, or a judgment naming a spouse under and upon payment of the exact amount of the fee prescribed in the clerk of circuit court shall enter the judgment in the judgment and lien docket, arranged alphabetically...

The legislature's repeated reference to civil judgments in the statute is bolstered by the legislature's cross reference to a civil statute. Section 973.20 refers the reader to §806.10(1), which is the civil statute governing the enforcement of civil judgments. This cross reference confirms that the judgment described in §973.20(1r) is a civil judgment after the completion of a sentence.

If the legislature had intended for special treatment of civil judgments arising from restitution, it could have done so - it did not. Instead, the legislature counted on the pre-existing civil system. Moreover, §806.10 is silent regarding civil judgments entered for unpaid restitution. Such judgments are treated like any other civil judgment under §806.10. Thus, Markovic's criminal restitution judgment is converted to a civil judgment after the completion of a sentence.

The DOC and the Stanley Correctional Institution claims that they can withhold and collect Markovic's money for unpaid

restitution on a completed sentence. There reasoning is that "WICS" a software program that the DOC created says that Case #95CF57 is "OPEN" and that I "OWE". If open and I owe, they can collect it even after the completion of a sentence. (R.10:42.) If the DOC and Stanley Correctional Institution is correct, then §973.20(1r) is rendered meaningless. If the criminal restitution judgment entered by the circuit court on December 20, 1995 is not converted to a civil judgment for unpaid restitution on a completed and discharged sentence, but ongoing criminal restitution, why does §973.20(1r) exist at all? The Court could simply extend probation or a sentence until the restitution obligation is satisfied. If a criminal restitution judgment for unpaid restitution is not converted to a civil judgment after the completion of a sentence, but held as criminal restitution, why bother with §973.20(1r). Consequently, the statutory maxim that prohibits an interpretation that eliminates the meaning of other statutory language or is absurd shows that the DOC's interpretation that unpaid restitution after the completion of a sentence remains criminal restitution and that they can collect because "WICS" says its "OPEN" and you "OWE" cannot be correct. See **Kalal, 2004 WI 58, P46** (citations omitted). To interpret §973.20(1r) that they can collect on unpaid restitution after the completion of a sentence as the DOC was doing is absurd because it creates a new type of judgment and is inconsistent with other statutory provisions. See **Kalal, 2004 WI 58, P46** (citations omitted)("statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but a part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid unreasonable results.").

Furthermore, when there is doubt as to the meaning of a criminal statute, courts should apply the rule of lenity and interpret the statute in favor of the accused. **State v. Jackson, 2004 WI 29, P12 270 Wis. 2d 113, 120, 676 N.W. 2d 872, 875** (citing **State v. Morris, 108 Wis. 2d 282, 289, 322 N.W. 2d 264, 267 (1982)**; **State v. Wilson, 77 Wis. 2d 15, 28,**

252 N.W. 2d 64, 70 (1977). Thus any interpretation of §973.20(1r) that imposes further criminal punishment such as continued restitution after a completed sentence cannot stand.

**B. Wisconsin Stats. §§303.01(8)(b) and 301.32(1) does not allow the DOC to withhold and collect restitution on a completed and discharged sentence**

Wis. Stat §303.01(8)(b) states in relevant part that the DOC shall distribute an inmate's earnings for statutory surcharges and "for other obligations either acknowledged by the inmate...in writing or which have been reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law." The State argues that "other obligations...reduced to judgment encompasses restitution citing *State v. Baker*, 2001 WI App 100, 243 Wis. 2d 77, 626 N.W. 2d 862. The State claims that *Baker* allows the DOC to withhold and collect unpaid restitution on a sentence Markovic has already completed and discharged from in 2002, because he is still incarcerated in the DOC system on a different conviction. If that's the case, the State's reasoning that you can collect on unpaid restitution on a completed and discharged sentence, even if you are now incarcerated on a different DOC gives the DOC unlimited authority to collect any unpaid restitution at anytime even 50 years from now if they chose to do so. That is absolutely absurd!

Under Wis. Stat. §973.20(1r), only the victim and not the DOC has the authority to collect the unpaid restitution after the sentence has been completed and discharged.

As stated on page 5 of this brief, Wis. Stat. §973.20(1r) provides in relevant part:

[a]fter the termination of probation, extended supervision, or parole, or if the defendant is not placed on probation, extended supervision, or parole, restitution ordered under this section is enforceable in the same manner as a judgment in a civil action by the victim named in the order to receive restitution or enforced under ch. 785.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has interpreted Wis. Stat.

§973.20(1r) to mean that, upon completion of probation, the restitution order becomes a civil judgment. See *Huml v. Vlazny*, 293 Wis. 2d 169, 188 (2006). The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Huml v. Vlazny*, also concluded the more reasonable interpretation of the phrase "in the same manner as a judgment of conviction in a civil action" in Wis. Stat. §973.20(1r) is that the resulting judgment is a civil judgment.

The DOC's position that they can collect for unpaid restitution after the completion and discharge of a sentence is further undermined by *State v. Davis*, 127 Wis. 2d 486, 381 N.W. 2d 333 (1986). Thelmer Davis was placed on probation for 5 years and ordered to pay restitution for committing welfare fraud. *Id.* at 487-88, 381 N.W. 2d 333. Three times the circuit court extended Davis' probation because restitution remained unpaid. *Id.* at 489-91, 381 N.W. 2d 333. The Wisconsin Supreme Court explained the circuit court's decision to extend Davis' probation was an erroneous exercise of discretion because it effectively transformed the criminal justice system into a collection agency "to collect what eventually became no more than a civil debt." *Id.* at 499. Davis, therefore, stands for the proposition that once the penal and rehabilitative purposes of restitution have been served, only a civil debt remains.

In *Huggett v. State*, 83 Wis. 2d 790, 266 N.W. 2d 403 (1978), the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that the criminal justice system should not be employed to supplement a civil suit or as a threat to coerce the payment of a civil liability or to perform the functions of a collection agency. *Id.* at 803-04 (citing *State v. Scherr*, 9 Wis. 2d 418, 424, 101 N.W. 2d 77 (1960)). If the DOC is allowed to collect for unpaid restitution on a completed and discharged sentence, it turns the Wisconsin prisons into both a debtors' prison and collection agency. Debtors' prisons are unlawful in this country, and being a modern-day collection agency is not part of the DOC's charter or part of and rehabilitation mission.

"Restitution serves the dual purposes of making the victim whole and rehabilitating the defendant." *Huml v. Vlazny*, 2006 WI 87, ¶38, 293 Wis. 2d 169, 190, 716 N.W. 2d 807, 817 citing *State v. Sweat*, 208 Wis. 2d 409, 561 N.W. 2d 695 (1997). However, "once the penal and rehabilitative purposes of restitution have been served, only a civil debt remains." *Id.* at ¶43, citing *State v. Davis*, 127 Wis. 2d 486, 381 N.W. 2d 333 (1986) and *Huggett v. State*, 83, Wis. 2d 790, 206 N.W. 2d 403 (1978).

Moreover, "restitution in a criminal case is a remedy that belongs to the state, not to the victim." *Id.* at ¶44. "termination of probation, however, signals the state's disavowal of any penal or rehabilitative interests." *Id.* Thereafter, only the goal of compensating the victim remains. This is an objective adequately accomplished by entry of a civil judgment, which can be enforced through civil enforcement mechanisms.

The certiorari court noted that in *Baker*, an inmate was incarcerated under a Judgment of Conviction ("JOC") that was at issue in that case. Here, Markovic served the sentence in Case #95CF57. Therefore, he is not incarcerated under the JOC in Case #95CF57. However, he is still in prison under a JOC in another case.

*Baker* should not be read to mean that an order to pay restitution, as part of a JOC, is a judgment of conviction. As long as an inmate is incarcerated under the JOC, the DOC has authority to collect restitution that is ordered as part of that JOC. However, when an inmate completes and discharges from a sentence, any unpaid restitution has to be reduced to a civil judgment in order for a victim to collect. If this court would read *Baker* to mean that an order for restitution in the JOC is a judgment for restitution, there would be no need to reduce an unpaid restitution to a civil judgment under Wis. Stat. §973.20(1r) after the sentence is completed because the victim would be able to collect on the JOC. Moreover,

the certiorari court noted that the JOC in this case states that restitution is a condition of the sentence. (R.10 at 2.) Any condition expires when the sentence is served. Thus, this is another reason why any unpaid restitution had to be reduced to a civil judgment.

The certiorari court did not rely on **Baker** as the controlling case that the DOC does not have legal statutory authority to withhold and collect unpaid restitution on a completed and discharged sentence. The certiorari court only wanted to distinguish **Baker** with Markovic's case. **Baker** was still incarcerated under a JOC that was at issue in that case. Here, however, Markovic already completed and discharged from the sentence in Case #95CF57 that is at issue here. The controlling case in the certiorari court's decision that the DOC has no legal statutory authority to collect on unpaid restitution on a completed and discharged sentence is clearly stated in **Huml v. Vlazny**. This is the controlling case that the certiorari court relied upon and that this court should be legally obligated to conform to.

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